#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-CA-00669

BARRY S. LOGAN

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

OVERLEY ELECTRIC, INC.

**APPELLEE** 

# APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF OKTIBBEHA COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI CIRCUIT COURT CAUSE NO. 2005-0234CV

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT BARRY S. LOGAN**

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

CLAUDE F. CLAYTON, JR.
MS BAR NO.
J. KRISTOPHER WHITE
MS BAR NO.
CLAYTON O'DONNELL, PLLC
POST OFFICE BOX 755
TUPELO, MISSISSIPPI 38802
TEL. (662) 620-7938
FAX (662) 620-7939

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### NO. 2008-CA-00669

#### BARRY S. LOGAN

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

#### OVERLEY ELECTRIC, INC.

APPELLEE

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The following issues are presented for review in this appeal:

- 1. Whether the trial court committed error by granting summary judgment to Overley Electric, Inc. in spite of the undisputed evidence that Overley Electric, Inc. breached its assumed, contractual duty to maintain the temporary lighting in the stairwell in question, which was a proximate cause, or proximate contributing cause, of Barry Logan's injuries.
- 2. Whether the trial court committed error by granting summary judgment to Overley Electric, Inc., when, even under a premises liability analysis, Barry Logan presented more than sufficient evidence to create a genuine issue of material fact which precludes summary judgment.
- 3. Whether the trial court committed error by finding that Barry Logan's injuries were solely caused by his own negligence when, under well-settled Mississippi law, any issue regarding Barry Logan's comparative negligence should have been reserved for the jury.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings, and Disposition in the Court Below

Plaintiff Barry S. Logan ("Logan") was injured on May 20, 2002, while working on a renovation project at the Cresswell Dormitory on the campus of Mississippi State University. Logan was employed by Jody Plumbing & Mechanical, Inc., one of the subcontractors on the job. Subsequently, Logan filed a negligence action against Overley Electric, Inc. ("Overley") and Lloyd G. Oliphant & Sons Paint Co., Inc. ("Oliphant") on February 19, 2005. Both Overley and Oliphant were also subcontractors on the Cresswell job site.

On March 29, 2007, Overley filed a motion for summary judgment or, in the alternative, for partial summary judgment as to the issue of punitive damages. On August 14, 2007, Logan filed his response to Overley's Motion. On December 10, 2007, the Circuit Court of Oktibbeha County granted summary judgment in favor of Overley. Logan's motion for reconsideration was subsequently denied, and final judgment was entered in Overley's favor on April 1, 2008. It is from this final judgment that Logan now appeals.

#### B. Statement of the Facts

This case arises out of an accident which occurred at approximately 12:40 p.m. on May 20, 2002, during a renovation project at the Cresswell Dormitory on the campus of Mississippi State University. Logan was working as a foreman for one of the subcontractors on the job, Jody

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Defendant Oliphant also filed a motion for summary judgment in the court below. Oliphant's motion for summary judgment and its motion to reconsider were both denied. Oliphant has now also filed an appeal in this matter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Summary judgment was granted to Overley pursuant to Rule 54(b) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. The circuit court expressly directed an entry of a final judgment with prejudice as to Overley after it expressed a determination that there was no just reason for delay of an entry of final judgment. (R, 504, 506).

Plumbing & Mechanical, Inc. While descending the internal (center) stairwell<sup>3</sup> of the Cresswell Dormitory, on the landing between the first and second floors, Logan slipped on a piece of conduit which had been left on the landing and fell all the way to the bottom of the stairwell.<sup>4</sup> (R. 239-240, 274-275). The temporary lighting in the stairwell was not functioning at the time of the accident and the stairwell was "completely dark." (R. 260, 275). Obviously, due to the fact that the lights weren't functioning, Logan was unable to see and avoid the piece of conduit on which he slipped.

Overley was the electrical subcontractor on the Cresswell job. By Overley's own admissions, it had the responsibility for installing and maintaining the temporary lighting on the Cresswell job, including the installation and maintenance of the temporary lighting in the stairwell where Logan fell. (R. 310). Specifically, in regard to the stairwell where Logan fell, Overley has admitted the following:

#### **REQUEST NO. 7:**

Please admit that on May 20, 2002, Overley Electric, Inc., was responsible for installation and maintenance of the temporary lighting in the center stairwell of Cresswell Hall.

#### RESPONSE:

Admitted.

(R. 310).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Cresswell dormitory had three stairwells—one stairwell on each end of the building and one internal stairwell in the center of the building. (R. 231). There was no natural lighting in the internal stairwell where Logan's accident occurred. (Id).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> As a result of this accident, Logan was knocked unconscious and suffered severe injuries to his back and his shoulder, for which he has undergone several surgeries. (R. 245-253). Logan has been unable to work since the accident and has been unable to enjoy many of the activities he previously enjoyed. (Id). Logan was awarded total social security disability benefits in March 2007.

Despite the contractual duty Overley had assumed to install and maintain the temporary lighting on the Cresswell job, including the lighting in the stairwell in question, the uncontradicted testimony in this case has established that the temporary lighting in the stairwell where Logan fell had been off/not functioning for at least three and a half hours prior to the time of Logan's accident. Logan recalls that at approximately 9:00 a.m. on the day of the accident, he and one of his co-workers, Mark Iseley, were in the stairwell where the accident occurred and the lights were not functioning at that time. (R. 229-230). Mark Iseley actually remembers the lights being off in the stairwell earlier than 9:00 a.m., perhaps even before 8:00 a.m., the lights had not been functioning for at least three and a half hours prior to Logan's fall. Overley does not dispute this timeline. (R. 298).

As Overley pointed out in its motion for summary judgment, Logan concedes that he did not make a formal complaint to anyone with Overley regarding the lights in the stairwell after he discovered that the lights were not functioning. What Overley neglects to mention, however, was that such a complaint was not necessary because Overley's foreman was already aware of the problem:

- Q. Okay. You said the electricians were fussing about the painters taking the light. What -- what electrician was fussing about the painters taking the lighting down?
- A. That would be the foreman.
- Q. And what was his name again?
- A. I don't know. I don't remember his name.
- Q. Okay. That's the guy you said he's just a good guy?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Mark Iseley recalled the lights in the stairwell being off "first thing that morning" at some time between 7:30 and 8:00 a.m. (R. 368, 381). Thus, using Mark Iseley's calculation, the temporary lighting in the stairwell had been off for approximately four and a half to five hours at the time of Logan's accident. (R. 381).

A.	Yeah. Just a good fellow.
Q.	All right. Do you remember what he looked like?
A.	He's a white guy, about six foot.
Q.	White guy?
A.	Yeah.
Q.	White?
A.	White fellow.
Q. A.	Six foot. Uh-huh.
Q.	About what age?
A.	Oh, about 30, 35 years old.
Q.	Okay.
A.	He wore glasses.
Q.	Okay.
A.	Slender.
Q.	Okay. Dark hair, light hair?
A.	Brown hair.
Q.	Brown hair. Okay. All right. And you say that the foreman for Overley Electric said that the painters had taken the temporary lighting?

- A. Yeah, I believe he did.
- Q. Okay. Did he say that to you?
- A. Yes, ma'am.
- Q. Okay. When did he tell you that?
- A. I think it was at break time.

Q. At 9:00 --

A. Yeah.

Q. -- time? Okay. And where were you when he told you that?

A. All out gathered around the truck taking a break.

(R. 237-238).

Further, even though Overley admits that it had the responsibility not only to install, but also to **maintain** the temporary lighting on this jobsite, management at Overley **never** designated or directed any of Overley's employees to inspect the temporary lighting to make sure that it was functioning properly.<sup>6</sup> In regard to the stairwell where Logan's fall occurred, this was true even though Overley knew that this was the primary stairwell being utilized by virtually all employees on the job. (R. 313, 380).

Q. Okay. So there's no checks done then, I guess, to make sure the lights were all on that had been installed?

A. No.

MR. WISE: What do you mean by checks?

MR. WHITE: Yeah, I knew you were going to ask that. I'll come back to that.

BY MR. WHITE:

Q. Let me ask it this way. Was there anyone who went and inspected the light, the temporary lighting, to make sure that it was functioning property?

A. Not that I'm aware of. Not for Overley Electric it wasn't.

\*\*\*

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> This cavalier, irresponsible attitude toward the maintenance of temporary lighting by Overley was indicative of other problems on the Cresswell/Hathorne jobsite with temporary lighting. As Mark Iseley testified during his deposition, problems with adequate temporary lighting were common on this job, both before and after Logan's accident. (R. 381).

- Q. Was there anyone direct -- we've covered this a little bit, but as I understand it, there was no one that was directed from Overley Electric's standpoint to go and inspect temporary lighting?
- A. No.

\*\*\*

- Q. Okay. In your opinion, Mr. Overley, if someone from Overley Electric Company would have inspected the lighting that morning, they would have seen the lights were off?
   MR. WISE: Object to the form of the question.
- A. Yes, they would have seen it. If they were off, they would have seen it.
- Q. And in your opinion, Mr. Overley, is a dark unlighted stairwell dangerous?
- A. Yes.

(R. 293, 298-299).

From the evidence set forth above and the authority set forth below, there are clearly genuine issues of material fact regarding Overley's liability which should be decided by a jury.

As such, the trial court committed reversible error by granting Overley's motion for summary judgment.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Logan's primary claim against Overley stems from the undisputed allegation that Overley breached its assumed, contractual duty to maintain the temporary lighting in the stairwell in question. Due to Overley's breach in this regard, the stairwell was completely dark, which was the proximate cause of Logan's fall and resulting damages. In other words, Overley's negligence in this case is derived not from any allegation that it removed or disconnected the temporary lighting, but rather from the breach of its assumed, contractual duty to maintain the temporary lighting.

In its motion for summary judgment, Overley did not <u>address</u> or <u>contradict</u> Logan's allegations as set forth above. Instead, Overley's motion applied premises liability law to Logan's claim against Overley and focused solely on two arguments: (1) that there is no evidence that Overley or any of its employees removed the temporary lighting in question, and (2) that Overley did not have any knowledge that the temporary lighting had been removed or disconnected prior to Logan's fall. These arguments by Overley completely missed the mark.

This is not a premises liability case between one invitee and a business owner. This case addresses the liability of a subcontractor which had the contractual duty to maintain the lighting in the stairwell where the accident occurred and knew the unlighted stairwell was dangerous. While the circuit court's order granting Overley's motion for summary judgment did not provide any analysis for the reasoning behind its decision, Logan must assume that the circuit court adopted Overley's argument and applied premises liability law in granting Overley's motion for summary judgment. The application of premises liability law to this case by the circuit court was reversible error.

Further, while this is not a case where premises liability law applies, even if it were, Logan has presented more than sufficient evidence to create genuine issues of material fact which preclude summary judgment. As the court is well aware, for a plaintiff to recover in a "slip and fall" premises liability case, the burden is upon plaintiff to prove by a preponderance of the evidence one of the following things: (1) a negligent act by the defendant caused the plaintiff's injuries, or (2) the defendant had actual knowledge of a dangerous condition but failed to warn plaintiff of the danger, or (3) the dangerous condition remained long enough to impute constructive knowledge to the defendant.

As demonstrated by the facts set forth above, Logan has presented more than sufficient evidence from which a jury could conclude that Overley had actual knowledge that the lighting in the stairwell was not functioning and/or that the lights had been off long enough to impute constructive knowledge to Overley.

In regard to actual knowledge, Logan testified that Overley, through its foreman, had actual knowledge of the dangerous condition, i.e. that the temporary lighting in question was not functioning prior to the time of Logan's accident. Specifically, during the 9:00 break on the morning of the accident in question, Overley's foreman indicated to Logan that he was aware that the temporary lighting was not functioning in the stairwell and stated his belief "that the painters had taken the temporary lighting."

Likewise, in regard to constructive knowledge to Overley, the uncontradicted testimony in this case reveals that the temporary lighting in the stairwell in question had been off for at least three and a half hours prior to Logan's fall. In fact, there is additional testimony which indicates that the lights in question had been off for up to four and a half to five hours. Thus, taking the evidence in the light most favorable to Logan, this unreasonably dangerous condition

had remained long enough to impute constructive knowledge to Overley, especially considering that the stairwell was one of the most highly traveled areas of the job site.

Finally, Overley's motion for summary judgment also argued that Logan "assumed the risk" of entering the stairwell in question, and that such assumption of risk is an absolute bar to Logan's recovery. Once again, while it is unclear from the circuit court's order granting summary judgment whether the court adopted Overley's argument on this point, Logan must assume that it did. Overley's argument on this point, however, ignores long established Mississippi case law on this issue, which holds that the assumption of risk doctrine has been subsumed into the doctrine of comparative negligence. Since this is clearly not a case in which Logan has failed to offer any evidence of negligence attributable to Overley, (e.g. Overley's negligent failure to properly maintain the temporary lighting in the stairwell) any issues concerning Logan's comparative fault should have been reserved for the jury. Thus, summary judgment was not proper based upon this argument by Overley.

Based upon all of the above, the grant of summary judgment to Overley by the circuit court was reversible error, and Logan requests that this court reverse the summary judgment granted to Overley in this cause by the trial court and remand this case for a full trial on the merits.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. Standard of Review.

This is an appeal from a summary judgment granted to Overley by the Circuit Court of Oktibbeha County, Mississippi. The Supreme Court applies the same standard as the trial court in ruling on a motion for summary judgment. Under Rule 56(c) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, a motion for summary judgment "shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with any affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material facts and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Upon considering a motion for summary judgment, the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party against whom the motion has been made. Russell v. Orr, 700 So. 2d 619, 622 (Miss. 1997); Northern Elec. Co. v. Phillips, 660 So. 2d 1278, 1281 (Miss. 1995). The burden of showing that no genuine issue of material fact exists lies with the moving party, and the non-moving party must be given the benefit of every reasonable doubt. Tucker v. Hinds County, 558 So. 2d 869, 872 (Miss. 1990). "Issues of fact sufficient to require denial of a motion for summary judgment obviously are present where one party swears to one version of the matter in issue and another says the opposite." Tucker, 558 So. 2d at 872. "Furthermore, it is well-settled that motions for summary judgment are to be viewed with a skeptical eye, and if a trial court should err, it is better to err on the side of denying the motion." Crum v. Johnson, 809 So. 2d 663, 665 (Miss. 2002) (citing Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co., 669 So. 2d 56, 70 (Miss. 1996); Ratliff v. Ratliff, 500 So. 2d 981, (Miss. 1986)).

II. The trial court committed reversible error by granting summary judgment to Overley Electric, Inc. in spite of the undisputed evidence that Overley Electric, Inc. breached its assumed, contractual duty to maintain the temporary lighting in the stairwell in question, which was a proximate cause, or proximate contributing cause, of Barry Logan's injuries.

This is a negligence cause of action. (R. 213). As the court is well aware, there are four elements which must be established in order for Logan to recover on his claims: (1) a duty owed by the Overley to Logan; (2) a breach of that duty; (3) proximate causation; and (4) damages. See, e.g., Rolison v. City of Meridian, 691 So. 2d 440 (Miss. 1997). "If a triable issue of fact regarding each of these elements exists, then summary judgment must [not be granted]." Lyle v. Mladinich, 584 So. 2d 397, 398-99 (Miss. 1991).

Logan's claims against Overley are premised on the undisputed allegation that Overley breached its assumed, contractual duty to maintain the temporary lighting in the stairwell where Logan fell. Due to Overley's breach of this duty, the stairwell was completely dark and Logan was unable to see and avoid the piece of conduit on which he slipped. Thus, Overley's breach of duty was a proximate cause of Logan's fall and resulting damages.

In its motion for summary judgment, Overley did not address or contradict Logan's theory of recovery. (R. 129-153). Instead, Overley erroneously applied premises liability law to Logan's claims and argued (1) that there is no evidence that Overley or any of its employees removed the temporary lighting in question, and (2) that Overley did not have any knowledge that the temporary lighting had been removed or disconnected prior to Logan's fall. (R. 138-141). These arguments by Overley completely missed the mark.

Likewise, even though the circuit court's order granting Overley's motion for summary judgment does not provide any analysis for its decision, Logan must assume that the circuit court

adopted the reasoning applied by Overley. As shown below, the circuit court incorrectly applied premises liability law to the facts of this case.

#### A. The duty owed by Overley to Logan.

Overley has admitted, both in response to requests for admission and in its pleadings in the court below, that it had assumed the duty of providing temporary lighting in the stairwell where Logan's accident occurred. (R. 310, 442).

Under Mississippi law, a negligence duty "exists where a party contracts to undertake or otherwise assumes a duty." Doe v. Wright Security Services, Inc., 950 So. 2d 1076, 1080 (Miss. App. 2007) (citing Rein v. Benchmark Constr. Co., 865 So. 2d 1134, 1144-45 (Miss. 2004); Wagner v. The Mattiace Co., 938 So. 2d 879 (Miss. App. 2006); Hobson v. Waggoner Eng'g, Inc., 878 So. 2d 68, 76 (Miss. App. 2003)) (emphasis added). "This duty extends to third party beneficiaries." Id. (citing Rein, 865 So. 2d at 1145).

When dealing with the question of whether a person, such as Logan in the instant case, is considered a third party beneficiary who can maintain a negligence action based upon this type of duty, the *Rein* court explain:

In order for a third person beneficiary to have a cause of action, the contracts between the original parties must have been entered into for his benefit, or at least such benefit must be the direct result of the performance within the contemplation of the parties as shown by its terms. It must have been a legal obligation or duty on the part of the promissee to such third person beneficiary. This obligation must have a legal duty which connects the beneficiary with the contract. In other words, the right (of action) of a third party beneficiary to maintain an action on the contract must spring from the terms of the contract itself.

Rein, 865 So. 2d at 1146.

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