# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CASE # 2008-CA-00669

**BARRY S. LOGAN** 

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

OVERLEY ELECTRIC, INC.

**APPELLEE** 

# APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF OKTIBBEHA COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI OKTIBBEHA COUNTY CIRCUIT CAUSE NO. 2005-0234CV

BRIEF OF APPELLEE OVERLEY ELECTRIC, INC.

B. WAYNE WILLIAMS, MSB
REAGAN D. WISE, MSB
WEBB, SANDERS & WILLIAMS, P.L.L.C.
363 NORTH BROADWAY
POST OFFICE BOX 496
TUPELO, MISSISSIPPI 38802
TELEPHONE NO.: (662) 844-2137
FACSIMILE NO.: (662) 842-3863

Attorneys for Appellee Overley Electric, Inc.

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CASE # 2008-CA-00669

**BARRY S. LOGAN** 

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

OVERLEY ELECTRIC, INC.

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

#### III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Logan claims that Overley's actions or inactions caused him to fall because he alleges Overley left a piece of conduit in the stairwell Logan was descending and Overley removed or failed to maintain the temporary lighting in the subject stairwell. Logan makes these claims although he readily admits that he does not even know what he slipped on. Logan also makes these claims although he knew the stairwell he chose to descend was dark and he never notified anyone of the condition. Moreover, Logan admits that he has no evidence that Overley or any of its employees knew the temporary lighting had been removed when Logan's fall occurred. Moreover, Logan has absolutely no idea if the temporary lighting was ever turned back on after he first ascended the stairwell but before his fall. Of course, the lights were off at the time of his fall but there is no evidence as to the exact amount of time they had been off prior to his fall.

The trial court correctly granted Overley summary judgment as there were no genuine issues of material fact for a jury to decide. Logan's claims are not supported by sufficient evidence and are based on mere speculation. The trial court's decision granting summary judgment in favor of Overley was correct and should be affirmed.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of Review.

The standard for reviewing the granting or denying of summary judgment in the Supreme Court is the same standard as is employed by the trial Court. The Supreme Court conducts a de novo review of orders granting or denying summary judgment and examines all the evidentiary matters before it. The evidence must be reviewed in the light most favorable to the party against whom the motion has been made. If in this view there are genuine issues of material fact and the moving party is not entitled to judgment as a matter of law, summary judgment should not be entered in his favor. Henderson v. Unnamed Emergency Room, Madison County Medical Center, 758 So.2d 422, ¶7, (Miss. 2000). It has been held that all motions for summary judgment should be viewed with great skepticism and if the Trial Court is to err, it is better to err on the side of denying the motion. When doubt exists whether there is a fact issue, the non-moving party gets its benefit. Indeed, the party against whom the summary judgment is sought should be given the benefit of every reasonable doubt. Ratliff v. Ratliff, 500 So.2d 981 (Miss. 1986). The Court also consistently held that summary judgment is not a substitute for the trial of the disputed fact issues. According, the Court cannot try issues of fact on a Rule 56 motion, it may only determine whether there are issues of fact to be tried. Brown v. Credit Center, Inc., 444 So.2d 358, 363 (Miss. 1983).

B. The Trial Court did not err in granting Overley Electric, Inc. summary judgment.

#### 1. Overley's duty to Logan.

Under Mississippi law, the general rule is that a general contractor on a construction site is in control of the premises and is burdened with the duty to use ordinary reasonable care to provide a safe place for employees of a subcontractor to work. *Oden Const. Co. v. McPhail*, 228 So. 2d 586, 588 (Miss. 1969); *Mississippi Power Co. v. Brooks*, 309 So. 2d 863, 866 (Miss. 1975). In addition, the general contractor also has a duty to oversee the conditions in the work of each subcontractor so far as they affect the safety of the employees of other contractors.

However, the fact that the general contractor in this case, Larry J. Sumrall Contractors, was required to provide a safe working environment for Logan, as an employee of subcontractor, Jody Plumbing & Mechanical, Inc., does not absolve subcontractor Overley from liability for its own negligence that may cause harm or injury to employees of other subcontractors. *Ainsworth v. Capform, Inc.*, 784 So. 2d 1008, 1011 (Miss. App. 2001). In other words, while on the work site Overley is responsible for its own acts of negligence that cause harm to employees of other subcontractors such as Logan. *Id.* 

#### 2. Overley did not breach its duty to Logan.

# A. There is no evidence that Overley removed or disconnected the temporary lighting.

Logan fell while walking down the middle stairwell in the Creswell dormitory. (R. 129, 138; R.E. 8, 17) Logan claims that the temporary lighting between the second and first floors of the middle stairwell had been removed making the stairwell very dark. (R. 130-131; R.E. 9-10). Logan alleges that Overley breached its duty to him by negligently removing the temporary lighting from the stairwell. (R. 10, 138; R.E. 4, 17). However, Logan does not have any evidence that Logan removed or even disconnected the temporary lighting. Logan testified in pertinent part as follows,

Q. ... You never heard anyone say that the electricians, Overley Electric, removed the temporary lighting, did you?

- A. No.
- Q. Okay. And you're not making a claim in this lawsuit that Overley Electric removed the temporary lighting, correct?
- A. No, I'm not saying they did it.
- Q. Okay. So it's your claim that the painters removed the temporary lighting?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Not not that Overley Electric removed the temporary lighting?
- A. Correct.
- (R. 138, 177; R.E. 17, 56).
- Q. (Mr.Wise) You never personally saw somebody from Overley Electric remove the temporary lighting, correct?
- A. That particular light?
- Q. Right.
- A. Or any of them?
- Q. The light the temporary lighting that you said was removed, you never saw anyone you never personally saw anyone from Overley Electric remove that temporary lighting?
- A. I didn't see anybody remove it, whether it be Overley or the painters. I didn't see anybody do it.
- Q. Okay.
- A. It was just removed.
- (R. 138-139, 178; R.E. 17-18, 57).
- Q. And, again, you never made any complaints to Overley or to anyone else, for that matter, that Overley was failing to keep its work area cleaned up or that their work Overley's work area was unsafe?
- A. I never made any complaints about Overley –
- (R. 139, 186; R.E. 18, 65).

Q. (Mr. Wise) Do you think Overley or its employees of the company itself, Overley, should be punished for any conduct in association with your lawsuit?

BY MR. WHITE: Same Objection.

- A. I believe somebody needs to be held accountable for this.
- Q. (Mr. Wise) But you're just not sure who; is that right?
- A. I'm just not sure who.
- (R. 139, 188; R.E. 18, 67).

Although Logan claims that Overley is liable for his injuries by negligently removing the temporary lighting he does not have any evidence to support his claim. (R.12, R.E.6). Logan even admits that he is not claiming Overley removed the temporary lighting. In fact, Logan testified that he claims that Oliphant removed the temporary lighting. Clearly, there is no disputed question of fact as to whether Overley removed the temporary lighting or even disconnected the temporary lighting in the stairwell where Logan fell. (R. 139-140, R.E. 18-19)

# B. There is no evidence Overley had knowledge that the temporary lighting had been removed or disconnected.

Logan also claims that the temporary lighting had been removed for a sufficient amount of time to put Overley on notice of the lights being out which would have allowed Overley to remedy the situation. (R. 10, 140, 157; R.E. 4, 19, 36). However, Logan admits that he used the stairwell in question several hours before his fall and he never notified Overley or anyone else on the job site that the temporary lighting had been removed or disconnected. Logan testified to the following,

- Q. Mr. Logan, do you have any information or evidence that Overley knew the temporary lighting had been taken out or removed?
- A. Physical evidence? No. But everybody down there knew it had been took out of there.
- Q. Okay. But you you personally don't have any information or evidence that, at the time just prior to your fall, that Overley knew that temporary lighting had been removed?
- A. No.

(R. 140, 189-190; R.E. 19, 68-69).

- Q. Okay. But before that, you don't have any reason to believe that Overley knew that temporary lighting had been removed?
- A. No.

(R. 140, 190; R.E. 19, 69).

Logan does not have any proof or evidence that anyone working for Overley knew the temporary lighting was out. Logan even admits that after ascending and descending the dark stairwell he never notified Overley nor did his co-employee Mark Iseley. (R. 140, 157,193; R.E. 19, 36, 72). Logan's claim is solely based on speculation and conjecture. There is no proof or evidence that Overley knew the temporary lighting was out. Moreover, Logan was well aware the lighting was out and chose to descend a dark stairwell. In addition, although Logan claims that the lighting was out for some two (2) to three (3) hours before his fall, Logan does not know if the lights were ever turned back on after he ascended the stairwell at 9:00 a.m. Although the lights may have been out at the time of Logan's fall, Logan has no evidence s to the exact amount of time the lighting was off prior to his fall.

# C. There is no evidence Overley left a piece of conduit in the stairwell.

Logan claims that Overley breached is duty by leaving a piece of conduit in the stairwell where Logan fell. Logan claims that he slipped on a piece of conduit causing him to fall to the bottom of the stairwell. Again, Logan did not present evidence demonstrating that Overley left a piece of conduit in the stairwell. Logan even admits that he does not have evidence that Overley left a piece of conduit in the stairwell. Logan testified to the following:

Q. Okay. Do you have any reason to believe that someone from Overley Electric left the piece of conduit in the stairwell?

A. I don't see any reasons why they would have done it, or anybody, for that matter, but, you know, it was just there. And it had paint on it.

(R. 141, 178-179; R.E. 20, 57-58).

- Q. Okay. Has anyone ever told you that someone working for Overley Electric left that piece of conduit in the stairwell?
- A. No.
- Q. Okay. Do you have any information whatsoever that someone working for Overley Electric at that time left that piece of conduit in the stairwell?
- A. No.
- (R. 141, 179-180; R.E. 20, 58-59).
- Q. And they weren't doing any work that day in the stairwell stairwell where you fell, correct?
- A. No, no.
- (R. 142, 182; R.E. 21, 61).
- Q. Sure.
- A. I came down the first set of them, platform. I went to the second set, and that's where the conduit was. That' when I stepped, and that's when I went down the stairs.
- Q. Okay. Did you see the piece of conduit before you -
- A. No.
- Q. stepped on it?
- A. Huh-uh. It was dark in there, no light.
- Q. Was it, I mean, pitch dark?
- A. Just absolutely. It was dark. You couldn't see your hand in front of your face.
- Q. Okay. After you fell and you were down at the bottom of the stairs, and before you were taken to the emergency room, did you personally see the piece of conduit anywhere?

- A. No.
- Q. So, at that time, shortly after the accident, you didn't know if the piece of conduit had paint on it or not; is that correct?
- A. That's correct.

(R. 142, 184-185; R.E. 21, 63-64).

Clearly, Logan does not even know if he slipped on a piece of conduit and even admits that he does not have any evidence that an Overley employee left a piece of conduit in the stairwell. Logan cannot meet his burden of proof as his claims are based on mere speculation. Obviously, there was not an issue of material fact regarding whether Logan slipped on a piece of conduit left in the stairwell by Overley. Thus, the trial court did not err in granting summary judgment.

## D. Logan does not know what he slipped or stepped on.

Logan testified under oath that he would only be speculating to conclude that he slipped on a piece of conduit. Logan testified in pertinent part,

- O. Sure.
- A. I came down the first set of them, platform. I went to the second set, and that's where the conduit was. That' when I stepped, and that's when I went down the stairs.
- O. Okay. Did you see the piece of conduit before you –
- A. No.
- Q. stepped on it?
- A. Huh-uh. It was dark in there, no light.
- Q. Was it, I mean, pitch dark?
- A. Just absolutely. It was dark. You couldn't see your hand in front of your face.
- Q. Okay. After you fell and you were down at the bottom of the stairs, and before you were taken to the emergency room, did you personally see the piece of conduit anywhere?

- A. No.
- Q. So, at that time, shortly after the accident, you didn't know if the piece of conduit had paint on it or not; is that correct?

(R. 143, 184; R.E. 22, 63).

- A. That's correct.
- Q. You didn't know it had paint on it until two days later when you returned?
- That's correct.
- Q. So it's possible the piece of conduit you saw two days later with paint on it was not the piece of conduit you stepped on?

BY MR. WHITE: Object to the form of the question.

- Q. (Mr. Wise) Is that possible; you would agree with me that's possible?
- A. Yeah. Oh, yeah, it's possible.
- Q. So your testimony that that the piece of conduit with paint on it was the piece of conduit you slipped on would –would be speculation? You would be speculating, correct?
- A. I guess so, yeah.

(R. 143-144, 185; R.E. 22-23, 64).

Again, Logan testified that it would be speculation for him to contend that the piece of conduit he allegedly observed two (2) days later at the job site was the exact piece of conduit that he slipped on. (R. 143-144, 185; R. E. 22-23, 64). In other words, Logan does not even know what, if anything, caused him to fall. Thus, there is no genuine issue of material fact as to whether Overley left a piece of conduit in the stairwell that allegedly caused Logan to fall.

#### 3. Logan Has Not Met His Burden of Proof.

As a subcontractor, Overley did not owe any special or particular duty to Logan other than what any person owes to another: not to negligently cause foreseeable injury or harm.

Logan's claims fail as a matter of law because he has not and cannot meet his burden of proof. His reliance on unsubstantiated hearsay and speculation is insufficient to create a jury issue. The Mississippi Supreme Court explained in *Maness v. Ilinois C. R. Co.*, 271 So.2d 418, 422 (Miss. 1972),

The question to be determined here is . . . was the evidence sufficient to require an issue to be submitted to the jury? As a general rule, in order to establish an allegation of negligence based upon circumstances, inferences and acts of a defendant in the nature of admissions, the proof or circumstances shown must be such that they will take the case out of the realm of conjecture and place it within the field of a legitimate inference of liability. Alexander Pool Co. v. Pevey, 247 Miss. 389, 152 So.2d 451 (1963); Brunt v. Chicago Mill & Lbr. Co., 243 Miss. 607, 139 So.2d 380 (1962); Fowler Butane Gas Co. v. Varner, 244 Miss. 130, 141 So.2d 226 (1962); Denman v. Denman, 242 Miss. 59, 134 So.2d 457 (1961); Magnolia Petroleum Co. v. Stinson, 230 Miss. 533, 93 So.2d 815 (1957); Tombigbee Electric Power Ass'n v. Gandy, 216 Miss. 444, 62 So.2d 567 (1953); Johnston v. Canton Flying Services, Inc., 209 Miss. 226, 46 So.2d 533 (1950). In the case of Brown Oil Tools, Inc. v. Schmidt, 246 Miss. 238, 148 So.2d 685 (1963); we quoted frm 38 Am.Jur. Negligence §334 (1941) wherein it was said:

'\* \* proximate cause need not be established by the testimony of eyewitnesses, nor by direct or positive evidence, but may be proved by circumstantial evidence; it may be determined from the circumstances of the case. \* \* \* In view of the fact that the burden of proof is upon the plaintiff, such circumstances must be ample and must appear from the evidence. Moreover, the evidence must not leave the causal connection a matter of conjecture; it must be something more than consistent with plaintiff's theory as to how the accident occurred.' (emphasis added).

The case of *Byrne v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 877 So.2d 462 (Miss.Ct.App. 2003) involved a plaintiff who could not meet her burden of proof. In *Byrne*, the plaintiff slipped in Wal-Mart on what she thought was a cookie, causing injury to her back. *Byrne*, 877 So.2d at 464. Byrne appealed arguing that the trial court "improperly substituted its own judgment for that of the jury on issues concerning the nature, condition, identity and length of time the unidentified substance that led to her injuries was on the floor." *Id.* at 465.

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